
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
 

28 FEDERAL STREET, BRUNSWICK, ME  04011-1583 
 

 

 
 

 
   VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD  

AGENDA  
BRUNSWICK STATION 
16 STATION AVENUE 

June 6, 2013 
7:15 P.M. 

 
 

 
 

1. Case #VRB 13-012 – 15 Cumberland Street (Map U13, Lot 045) – The Board will review and 
take action regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness application submitted by Berean Church 
Trustees to construct a new access structure as an addition to the Berean Baptist Church per local 
code requirements.   

 
2. Staff Approvals Update 

 
9 Cumberland Street – ADA Ramp (Rumpus Room) 
19 High Street – Removal of Porch 
5 Franklin Street – Window Replacement 
159 Park Row – Signage (Pejepscot Historical Society) 
63 Federal Street – Window Replacement (Bowdoin) 
149 Maine Street – Outdoor Seating Area (Wild Oats) 
  

3.  Approval of Minutes 
     
4.  Other Business   

 
 
 
 
 
 
Village Review Board meetings are open to the public. Please call the Brunswick Department of 
Planning and Development (725-6660) with questions or comments.  This meeting is televised. 



















































 1 

 

DRAFT Findings of Fact 

15 Cumberland St 

Certificate of Appropriateness  

Village Review Board  

Review Date: June 6, 2013 

 

 

 

 

Project Name: 15 Cumberland Street  

 

Case Number: VRB – 13-012 

 

Tax Map:  Map U13 Lot 45 

 

Applicant:  Berean Baptist Church 

   15 Cumberland Street 

   Brunswick, ME 04011 

 

 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

 

The Brunswick Fire Department and Code Enforcement Office performed a joint 

inspection of the property and determined that egress capacity in the basement was not in 

compliance with the NFPA 101 Life Safety Code, and that a second means of egress 

would be necessary.   

 

In response, the applicant is proposing construction of a 14’ long, 7’ tall, and 4’8” wide 

addition on the west side of the church that contains stairs to basement.  This proposed 

addition is the minimum necessary to house the stairway and cannot be placed in a less 

conspicuous area due to code requirements.   

 

At the request of the Director of Planning & Development, the applicant revised the 

original architectural renderings for the addition to include use of a fascia that matches 

the church’s existing fascia, and provision of a half-moon window in place of a small 

rectangular window on the addition’s north façade (facing the street), to match existing 

half-moon windows on the church’s east and north façades.   

 

Lastly, the applicant is proposing to use a flat grain vinyl siding for the addition, similar 

in appearance to the church’s existing vinyl siding.   

 

The property is located in the Town Center 1 (TC1) District and Village Review Overlay 

Zone.  

 

 



 2 

 

 

Review Standards from Section 216.9 of the Town of Brunswick Zoning Ordinance  

 

216.9.A. Buildings and Other Structures  

 

1.a) To the greatest practical extent, structures that contribute to the 

character of the Village Review Zone shall remain unaltered. The 

proposed addition to the existing church was necessary in order to 

stay in compliance with the NFPA 101 Life Safety Code.  In order 

to maintain visual compatibility with the church, the addition 

features a duplicate fascia, a half-moon window on the north 

façade, and uses flat grain vinyl siding, similar in appearance to the 

current vinyl siding exterior of the church.   To the greatest extent 

practical, the addition contributes to the character of the Village 

Review Zone.  The Board finds the provision of Section 

216.9.A.1.a. is satisfied. 

 

1.b) Any alteration of existing properties shall be compatible with their 

historic character, as well as with any surrounding properties.  By 

employing some of the architectural features of the church, the 

addition will be, to the greatest extent practical, compatible with 

the historic character of the church and surrounding properties.  

The Board finds the provision of Section 216.9.A.1.b. is satisfied. 

 

1.c) New construction shall be compatible with surrounding historic 

properties. The addition is compatible with surrounding properties, 

in terms of scale, design, and use of materials. The Board finds the 

provision of Section 216.9.A.1.c. is satisfied. 

 

1.d) All Certificates of Appropriateness for new construction, 

alterations or demolition shall be in accordance with applicable 

requirements of both this ordinance and the US Secretary of 

Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation of Historic Buildings. To 

the greatest extent possible, the design of the addition is in 

accordance with applicable requirements of both this ordinance 

and the US Secretary of Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation of 

Historic Buildings. The Board finds the provision of Section 

216.9.A.1.d. is satisfied. 

 

1.e) The Village Review Board’s application of the US Secretary of 

Interior’s Standards will be in accordance with the Board’s 

Design Guidelines. The Village Review Board’s application of the 

US Secretary of Interior’s Standards is in accordance with the 

Board’s Design Guidelines. The Board finds the provision of 

Section 216.9.A.1.e. is satisfied. 



 3 

 

 

 

DRAFT MOTIONS 

15 Cumberland Street 

Case Number VRB-13-012 

 

Motion 1: That the Certificate of Appropriateness application is deemed complete.  

 

Motion 2: That the Board approves the Certificate of Appropriateness for 15 

Cumberland Street as outlined in the application with the following 

condition: 

 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these 

findings of fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and 

the written and oral comments of the applicant, its representatives, 

reviewing officials, and members of the public as reflected in the 

public record.  Any changes to the approved plan not called for in 

these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the Director of 

Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 

further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 

Ordinance.  

 

 

 

 

   



Draft 2 

1 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
FEBRUARY 21, 2013 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Jane Crichton, Betsy Marr, and Brooks Stoddard 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Anna Breinich 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday February 21, 2013 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at Brunswick Station, 16 Station Ave. Chair Emily Swan called the 
meeting to order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
Historic Preservation Month Event Planning 
Emily Swan stated that the National Registry website has not posted a theme yet and noted that 
in the past the Village Review Board has collaborated with the Pejepscot Historical Society.  
Emily stated that she met the new Director of the Pejepscot Historical Society, Jennifer 
Blanchard, who stated that the Pejepscot Historical Society will be holding a community 
appreciation day and would be happy to tie our event and their appreciation day events together.  
Jane Crichton and Emily, who are members of the Brunswick Downtown Association Design 
Committee group and working on Maine Street National Registry, suggested that the theme 
focus on Maine Street or other Nationally Registered areas within the VRB Zone.  Betsy Marr 
agreed and replied that she was thinking about Brunswick as a destination and what makes 
Brunswick a destination; the photo contest could be photos of the train station, downtown, the 
historical neighborhoods, Bowdoin and the Brunswick Topsham Androscoggin Riverwalk.  
Betsy suggested that they could possibly get a speaker to talk about the plans for the Brunswick 
Topsham Androscoggin Riverwalk.  Emily replied that if they focus on Maine Street for the 
photo contest it gives the High School students more guidance.  Anna Breinich agreed with 
Emily and replied that this would be an opportunity to focus on what it means to be in a historic 
district and maybe co-sponsor an event with the Pejepscot Historical Society.  Jane gave an 
update on the Maine Street National Register Nomination and stated that Annie Robinson has 
begun the application process and stated that the information Annie has gathered to this point is 
astounding; the committee is very excited.  Jane stated that Annie is willing to assist and possibly 
find a speaker to participate in the historic preservation event.  Brooks Stoddard really likes the 
idea of focusing on Maine Street because it is focusing on something that people tend not to 
think about which is commercial architecture; Brunswick has a significant amount of high 
quality commercial architecture which is important culturally and economically from the trains 
to the falls.  Emily replied that if they really want to focus on the proposed National Registry 
area, it is not that big.  Emily suggested a walking tour of Maine Street possibly given by Amy 
Pollard.  Brooks noted that the Times Record has a complete photographic history of Maine 
Street in the late 1950’s; Anna suggested changing the photo contest to new or old pictures.  
Emily replied that the Times Record is usually willing to work with them and that she heard they 
have copies of old postcards that they may be able to collaborate on with them while letting the 
students focus on their own work. Anna responded that this would allow the students as well as 
the older residents to become involved. Emily stated that the Historical society was interested in 
working with them on a tour; they already run tours on Lincoln and Federal Street, the other two 
National Register Districts in Town.  Jane replied that they should focus on just Maine Street.  
Discussion on location of photo contest display venue; Jane suggested an open store front, 



Draft 2 

2 
 

Brooks suggested the train station, Anna suggested the entrance to Frontier Restaurant or 
possibly the gallery space and Emily suggested possibly Little Dog.  Emily stated that what they 
have so far is a photo contest, walking tour, possible speaker on the history of the buildings and 
photo series in the Times Record. For the next meeting Emily will email the High School Art 
Teacher, speak with Claudia Knox about old postcards and speak with Annie Robinson and 
Jennifer Blanchard about a speaker. Betsy pointed out that they have not always had a great 
attendance for speakers.  Anna said that the tour could be about what merits a historic District 
and see if there is an interest in voluntary preservation and referenced the Maine Preservation 
handout that was included in the packet about preservation easements.  Emily replied that she is 
a little weary about holding an event because they have not all been well attended and suggested 
leaving it loose as something that they could possibly co-sponsor.  Brooks suggested reaching 
out to the owners of the buildings to see if they have old photographs that they would be willing 
to display; Emily, and Jane agreed that this would be fantastic and Brooks volunteered to draft a 
letter to the downtown business/building owners.  Jane noted that they could feature the 
photographs on the walking tour.  Emily suggested May 11th as a possible date for walking tour.   
 
For the next meeting: 
Anna – research old walking tour information booklet. 
Jane – to forward along the research that Annie Robinson has compiled to date. 
Brooks – draft a letter to Maine Street Downtown businesses/owners referencing old photos 
Emily - email the High School Art Teacher, speak with Claudia Knox about old postcards, and 
speak with Annie Robinson and Jennifer Blanchard about a speaker. 
 
Staff Approvals: 

 97 Maine Street – Exterior duct work similar to what was Pedros. 
 157 Park Row – Signage for 2 new tenants. 

 
Minutes 
MOTION BY JANE CHRICHTON TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF JANUARY 15, 
2013 AS AMENDED. SECONDED BY BROOKS STODDARD, APPROVED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Other Business 

 Anna Breinich stated that the Board will be receiving a re-application for the Unitarian 
Church, who are resubmitting a new proposal along with a request to demolish the 
Pennell House. 

 Chair and Vice Chair  
O BETSY MARR NOMINATED EMILY SWAN FOR CHAIR. SECONDED 

BY BROOKS STODDARD, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
O Brooks Stoddard nominated Jane Chrichton; Jane Chrichton passed.  JANE 

CHRICHTON NOMINATED BROOKS STODDARD FOR VICE CHAIR. 
BETSY MARR SECONDED, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY 

 Village Review Brochure:  Anna Breinich suggested postponing working on this until 
June.  Anna suggested connecting this next year to Historic Preservation month and 
possibly speaking to the realtors at their annual meeting. 



Draft 2 

3 
 

 Village Review duty to comment on the National Registry Nomination – Emily Swan 
asked Anna when the VRB should comment; Anna replied that they may want to 
comment now about the proposal as is informally and then when the actual application is 
completed the Board can discuss it at a meeting and submit it in writing.  Board members 
agreed to allow Emily to draft a letter of support.  

 
Adjourned 
This meeting was adjourned at 8:15 P.M. 
 
Attest 
 
Tonya D. Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 1 

1 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
MARCH 14, 2013 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Jane Crichton, Betsy Marr, and Brooks Stoddard 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Anna Breinich 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday February 21, 2013 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at Brunswick Station, 16 Station Ave. Chair Emily Swan called the 
meeting to order at 7:20 P.M. 
 
Case #13-003 – Unitarian Universalist Church of Brunswick – The Board will review and 
provide a recommendation regarding an application to demolish a 2-story office building located 
at 5 Middle Street and review and take action on the proposed design of a new church, to be 
located at 15 Pleasant Street and 5 Middle Street (Tax Map U13, Lots 73 & 74). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for the Unitarian Universalist Church which and stated 
that the first case the Board will review would be for the demolition of the Pennell House located 
at 5 Middle Street and stated that after the Board has reached its recommendation, they will then 
review and take action on the design plan for the proposed design of the new church to be 
located at 15 Pleasant Street. Anna reminded the Board that the UUC had come before the Board 
roughly one year ago with a different design that included keeping the Pennell House which the 
Board approved.  However, after cost estimates came in, it was determined that the church would 
no longer be able to accomplish what they wished for and have come back with a new design 
which eliminates the Pennell House. 
 
Applicant, Noel Smith with Smith Reuter Lull Architects, began by stating that the church did 
not expect to be before the Board a second time but due to unforeseen circumstances in funding 
they have had to make changes.  Noel stated that this process has been difficult and has had some 
disappointing moments. Noel reminded the Board that when the original UUC burned, the 
church had to decide whether to stay at 15 Pleasant Street or to move to another location; they 
ultimately decided to stay in Downtown Brunswick. Noel stated that when the original design 
was reviewed, the church did not know at that time what amount the insurance claim would be or 
what the potential for fundraising would be, but that they did want to build back to the Pennell 
House. Noel stated that the original proposed design that they brought to the Board which 
connected to the Pennell House seemed well received and at that time fundraising was going 
well.  However, when the final insurance estimate came in just under two million and cost 
estimates started arriving they were five to six hundred thousand over budget; after speaking 
with several contractors over a few weeks, they were able to bring the numbers down. During 
this process, Noel stated that they realized that they would need to hire a Construction Manager 
to obtain better numbers and that they would need to start the design process over again.  Noel 
said that when they asked the contractors why the estimates were so high, the contractors all 
replied that it was due to the potential risk of the Pennell House; the contractors could not 
calculate exactly how long or how much money it would take to do what the church wanted 
without having to spend too much money while keeping the church happy.  The contractors also 
stated that there would be no logical movement in the construction process.  Noel stated that the 



Draft 1 

2 
 

church hired a Construction Manager and asked the contractors if the $1.8 million was even 
obtainable without the Pennell House in a facility big enough to replicate what was there before 
with the Pennell House.  Noel stated that the new design fits, provides better space then with the 
Pennell House and brings in what the church community wants.  Noel stated that they tried to 
save the Pennell House, but it is not financially possible.  He noted that if the Pennell House was 
going to cost $500,000 to renovate then the church would need to be constructed for $1.3 
million.  Emily Swan clarified that if the Pennell House was going to cost $500,000 then the 
church would not have enough to do the project; Noel replied that the lowest bidder came in at 
$2.5 million and the others were slightly higher but noted again that the contractors were anxious 
because the proposed design was a little unusual and because of the uncertainty and risk involved 
with the Pennell House.  Noel stated that the proposed building is more straight forward and 
similar to what was there before; they have been able to increase the size of the sanctuary a little 
bit.  Noel stated that the golden lining to being at the meeting is that the proposed design works 
better.   
 
Emily stated that one condition that the Board must satisfy is that the applicant did not contribute 
significantly to the deterioration of the building being demolished and asked about the study in 
2005.  Noel Smith replied that the study was a cursory study and not an in depth study. Noel 
stated that the building for its age, looks like what you would expect; doesn’t look like it is 
falling down, it has been reasonably maintained and it was an old two-family building that has 
been used for children’s religious education and does not meet any code for that use but can be 
used as such because no work has been done on it.  Noel stated that when the study was 
conducted it was when the church was trying to get a handle on what the general condition of the 
church that was still in existence and the Pennell House. Studies were done on that site with the 
existing church and even after doing quite a bit of interior renovation to modify and expand and 
demolishing Pennell House, the church still would not be able to meet their needs. Noel stated 
that the Pennell House does not meet any code and once you start spending money to upgrade 
and incorporate it with a new facility all the codes must be met.  Noel stated that a Structural 
Engineer measured all of the components of the Pennell House, ran the numbers, and it was 
determined that they would need to strengthen existing members, the basement would need new 
beams, the roof structure would need to be reframed and noted that this is done before anything 
is torn up where you may find other problems.  Noel again stated that this was a cursory study 
and also done to see what kind of money would be needed to keep the building going as is.   
Noel stated that at this time the church was deciding whether to stay at their current location or to 
move off site; if they moved off site they would have sold the Pennell House. Michael Heath, 
Board Chair of the UUC, replied that in the process of the congregation making a decision to 
keep Pennell House or not originally, they had spent a lot of money and effort in past five to six 
year trying to upgrade Pennell by putting new windows in, roofing, some siding and a new 
heating system and now with plans for renovation, so much would need to be done to get the 
house up to code. 
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the public hearing.  No public comments, Emily closed the public 
hearing. 
 
 
 



Draft 1 

3 
 

 
Criteria needed to be considered in the Demolition Standards are: 

1. The significance of the structure proposed for demolition as evidenced by the 
status as listed or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places. 
 
This motion carried unanimously 4-0 
 
2. The condition of the structure provided that the applicant has not contributed 
significantly to the deterioration of the structure. 
 
This motion carried unanimously 4-0 
 
3. The availability of permitted alternative uses of the structure that would 
maintain its economic viability 
 
This motion carried unanimously 4-0 

 
Emily noted that the only architectural feature was the banister but she did not see anything that would 
warrant protection; Board members agreed.  Emily stated that codes comparison was helpful; the building 
is not falling apart but the condition is such that it will require a great deal of maintenance and money to 
keep it up.   
 
MOTION BY JANE CRICHTON TO GRANT A CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS FOR DEMOLITON. SECONDED BY BROOKS STODDARD. 
 
Brooks Stoddard commended the due diligence done by the UUC members in trying to keep the Pennell 
House. 
 
Design Review 
Noel Smith presented sketches of the proposed design and reviewed the design features. Noel 
noted that the light element would be visible from inside the church; the light monitor in back of 
the church in the sanctuary will let southern light in. He stated that there will be light monitors 
on the roof, the building would be mostly shingles, it will have some metal on the roof and spine 
and will relate better to the library across the street.  Noel stated that they have discussed solar 
panels on the roof and will screen them appropriately if they are able to get them.  Noel stated 
that the proposed church will take its place on the street and looks like it belong there and 
pointed out that the new entrance ramp is under cover and is a little more open and welcoming.  
 
Jane Crichton clarified that the solar panels would not be going up at this time but possibly go up 
at a later point; Noel reiterated that if it is possible to install solar panels at this point they will 
but it is not likely due to the cost associated with the panels.  Emily Swan asked if they had 
looked into a grid buyback; Noel replied that at this time, Central Maine Power is not 
participating in a buyback.  Brooks Stoddard replied that this is a great opportunity for the 
church to think about how green the proposed building can be; a church trying to be as efficient 
as it can be is commendable. Noel replied that this design is much more energy efficient than the 
original proposal. Emily asked about the angle of the panels; Noel replied that the angles of the 
panels are determined by the angle of the roof.  Emily stated that she wouldn’t mind seeing the 
solar panels as they could be part of the aesthetic and the Board should help along those 



Draft 1 

4 
 

buildings that promote alternative energy and various things.  Jane asked if the screening will go 
up initially; Noel replied that it would.   
 
Brooks stated that in the proposed church design they have created a little bit of the late 19th 
century shingle style and wonders what the massing would be if the shingles went all the way up 
to the light tower. Brooks pointed out that in the design they created a rhythm going down 
Middle Street and wonders why they put the windows off the side on the bays; Noel replied that 
they were trying to do something that used traditional items in a non-traditional way. Betsy Marr 
stated that the façade faces Pleasant Street and asked if there was any way not to make it so 
blank; Noel Smith replied that the original design had a round window which cost too much; 
Noel stated that they are trying to keep the wall blank for projection or hanging of art and 
pointed out that no one wanted windows put in to see the traffic on Pleasant Street. Emily Swan 
replied that she too was concerned that the Pleasant Street side would be too blank.  Emily noted 
that the front door is not too obvious and seems un-dramatic; Noel replied that it may not be so 
dramatic but that it is friendlier; people can linger undercover a little bit and flow into the 
building.  Emily replied that one thought on the Pleasant Street side might be may be a tree or 
some natural growth.  Anna Breinich replied that there is a landscaping plan that will be 
reviewed by the Planning Board as part of the site plan application; the plan has already been 
reviewed by the Town Arborist, Peter Baecher and is similar to the landscaping on the original 
plan.  Noel noted that on the Pleasant Street side and the Middle Street facade, there will be two 
Unitarian sayings on the wall at eye level.  Jane replied that she likes that idea and stated that she 
thinks this is the best handicapped entrance she has seen.  Emily asked what the materials will be 
on the windows and what they will be divided by; Noel replied that the details have not been 
determined yet hoping to get Marvin quality and will not be vinyl.  Emily replied that she hopes 
that the Planning staff will look to avoid the fake divided light that goes inside the glass; Noel 
replied that they are trying to keep the design simple so that they can afford quality materials.    
 
Betsy Marr asked how the flat roof will drain; Noel replied that the roof will drain internally. 
Betsy suggested green and not white windows.  Emily asked if the bell is still going to be there; 
Noel replied that the bell will be relocated to the tower.  Betsy asked if the bell will ring; Michael 
Heath replied that the bell is in the process of being repaired. 
 
Brooks Stoddard stated that he liked the rendering which showed the library as well as it was 
very helpful. 
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public hearing. 
 
Sylvia Stalker, UUC Minister stated that a year ago the church celebrated their 200th anniversary 
but are very proud of their history and the proposed design does incorporteparts of their history 
like the bell, they are building the pulpit out of some of the old pews, some of the mantels from 
the Pennell House will be incorporated and the Longfellow Bible will have a prominent location 
within the church.  Sylvia stated that it is really important to the congregation tht they have a 
building that is as green as possible and they do understand that having a solid envelope is one of 
the best things that they can do, in addition to that, after being members of the community for 
over 200 years, they are leaders within the community and she would rather the solar panels be 
visible to the public as a model to where they should be going. Sylvia reiterated that the project 



Draft 1 

5 
 

budget projection may not be able to support solar panels at this time, but they are pursing them 
and there may be people in the congregation who may contribute extra just for that project; if 
they can put them up now they will and again, she would prefer that they not be screened. Betsy 
Marr replied that screening the panels will almost look like a movie house and that there may be 
more of a flow without screening; Emily Swan agreed.  Anna Breinich replied that there is 
screening already on the design as mentioned and noted that standard that requires screening 
heating, ventilation and rooftop units and solar panels would fall under that.  Anna reviewed 
Section 216.9 of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance, part C.     
 
 
 
Kurt Neufeld with Sitelines PA and member of the UUC, pointed out that regarding the 
screening, for most of the part that would have the solar panels the view will be blocked by 
buildings and vegetation.  He stated that there will be places where the panels will be visible and 
appreciates that the Board has noticed the work that has gone into this project.  
 
Chair Emily Swan closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION BY BROOKS STODDARD THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED BY 
JANE CRICHTON, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MOTION BY BESTY MARR THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS FOR A NEW CHURCH AT 15 PLEASANT STREET AS 
OUTLINED IN THE APPLICATION WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, the 
plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral comments of 
the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members of the public as 
reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan not called for in 
these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the Director of Planning and 
Development as a minor modification, shall require further review and approval in 
accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.  

 
2. That the rooftop mechanical units and raised roofline solar panels are adequately 

screened from the view of any public street to the extent that such screening does not 
interfere with solar gain. 

 
Discussion regarding National Historic Preservation Month activities. 
Emily Swan reviewed that the focus of National Historic Preservation Month had been decided 
and that it would be a focus on Maine Street since the Maine Street Historic District is being 
proposed.  Emily stated that she had spoken with Sandy Updegraph who is working with the 
BDA on a redesign of the interior space of the Visitors Center and asked if she would be willing 
to work with the Board and about having the photos hang there; Sandy and Emily identified a 
space and they discussed the amount of traffic that goes through there now.  Emily stated that 
this location seems like a good place to go with.   Anna Breinich stated that she spoke with one 



Draft 1 

6 
 

of the volunteers and was told that the larger historic photos will be coming down and will lend 
its self well.  Emily replied that she has emailed Sandy today to confirm the plans and has 
communicated with the high school art teacher.   

 Emily to update the entry form with the theme Focus on Maine Street. 
 Emily to follow-up with Jennifer Blanchard about possible tour. 
 Emily to ask BDA if they would assist in getting Downtown business to display old 

photographs. 
 Emily to speak with Bernie at People Plus about possible involvement. 
 Emily to ask the Times Record to run old photos. 
 Betsy Marr to ask her sister to assist in photographs. 
 Preservation event May 11 with a possible tour at 1:00 P.M. 

 
Staff Approvals  
None since last meeting. 
 
Minutes 
No minutes were reviewed at this meeting. 
 
Other Business 

 April meeting date discussed, possibly April 4th or April 8th. 
 
Adjourned 
This meeting was adjourned at 8:55 P.M. 
 
Attest 
 
Tonya D. Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 1 

1 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
APRIL 8, 2013 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Vice Chair Brooks Stoddard, Jane Crichton, and 
Betsy Marr 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Anna Breinich 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Monday April 8, 2013 at the Municipal 
Meeting Facility at Brunswick Station, 16 Station Ave. Chair Emily Swan called the meeting to 
order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
Case #VRB 13-004 – 22 Cleaveland Street – The Board will review and make a 
recommendation to the Planning Board regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness for 
Demolition application submitted by Bowdoin College to demolish a combined structure at 2 
Cleaveland Street/78 Federal Street (Map U8, Lot 095). A Site Walk was previously held by the 
Board on March 22, 2013.  
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application which Bowdoin College submitted for a Certification 
of Appropriateness for the demolition of 22 Cleaveland Street/78 Federal Street in the Village 
Review Overlay Zone and the National Register Federal Street Historic District. Anna stated that 
the buildings are a 1-1/2 story Cape that fronts on Cleveland Street and a Greek Revival style 
dwelling that fronts on Federal Street.  Anna reminded that Board that their role at this meeting is 
to provide a recommendation based on the demolition criteria of the zoning ordinance that will 
be forwarded to the Planning Board for demolition approval. 
 
Don Berkowski, Director of Capital Projects for Bowdoin College, reiterated that the property 
consisted of two separate structures originally and at some time after the acceptance of the 
Federal Historic Preservation Designation, the structures were joined with the addition of some 
outbuildings.  Don stated that Bowdoin College took ownership of the building in 2007 and 
noted that it was in disrepair; Bowdoin tried to stabilize the building and prevent further damage.  
Don stated that at this time they conducted hazardous materials abatement and removed a few of 
the collapsing chimneys. Don stated that the current plan is to remove the structures and stated 
that roughly a year ago the College met with Kurt Mooney of the Historic Preservation Society 
and conducted a walkthrough of the buildings.  Kurt agreed with the level of disrepair and asked 
Bowdoin to pay homage to the buildings in their future plans; Bowdoin believes that their 
current plan reflects this request.  Don stated that once the buildings are removed, they plan to 
retain the granite perimeter foundation wall around the two structures and possibly etch in stone 
the address and dates.  Bowdoin plans to landscape the area with a gravel courtyard, some low 
level native plantings and several trees to create a buffer to Rhodes Hall.  Don stated that the 
plan is to keep the area a lawn area that looks as though it belongs with 80 Federal Street; they 
would replace the existing driveway with a 5 foot path and reorient the parking lot so that 
vehicles park in the easterly direction with the entrance to the driveway off of Cleveland Street.  
Don stated that the area will be similarly landscaped as the area of 75 Federal Street.  
 



Draft 1 

2 
 

Emily Swan, referring to the engineering study that was conducted when Bowdoin purchased the 
house, asked Don Berkowski what Bowdoin’s original intention was.  Don Berkowski replied 
that in the beginning they were unsure of exactly what they were going to do with the structure 
but noted that it was a strategic location.  However, once they saw the level of disrepair it was 
clear that the structure was not viable.  Emily noted that in reviewing the engineers report, it 
appears that buildings C, D & E are in the worst condition with the original structure in fair 
condition; Emily asked if there was any possibility of saving the oldest building.  Don replied 
that the primary problem with the buildings is the way they were framed and undersized, he 
noted that the foundation wall has caved in on the Federal Street side and there was no regard to 
structure when electrical additions or pluming additions were made.  Jane Crichton noted that 
she was unable to attend the site visit but noticed that there were no pictures of what the structure 
looked like on the first or second floor included in the application; Don replied that he believed 
that there were photos in the original application. Jane asked if there were any important pieces 
such as mantels; Don replied that interior photos were included in the original application and 
stated that there were not significant fabrics of the original structure.  Emily replied that she did 
not remember any significant pieces.  Betsy Marr replied that the house was divided up and there 
was no semblance of the original structure.  Emily asked if the park would be open to the public; 
Don replied that it will be.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public hearing. 
 
Claudia Knox stated that what she had to say does not directly apply to this project but rather to 
the process and referred to her statement as attached. 
 
Andrew Rudalevige, resident of 76 Federal Street, stated the he does not vehemently oppose the 
demolition request but does not fully support demolition either.  Andrew stated that his concern 
is in regards to future oversight of maintenance and hopes that it will be maintained as nice as the 
College Presidents house at 75 Federal Street.   
 
Tricia Welsh, resident of 15 Cleveland Street, stated that she does not vehemently oppose the 
demolition but that she is not excited about it either.  Tricia stated that she would really like 
Bowdoin College to not acquire any more buildings then it plans to use as it dramatically 
changes the character of the neighborhood.  Tricia stated that they lost a house at one end of 
Cleveland Street to a parking lot and now they will be losing these two houses to a park.  Tricia 
stated that there are only a few houses left where neighbors live as many of the remaining houses 
are student housing.   
 
Chair Emily Swan closed the public hearing. 
 
Betsy Marr stated that she hopes that Bowdoin intends to landscape per the illustrations provided 
and noted that other approvals have resulted in less landscaping than originally planned.  Don 
Berkowski replied that they plan to landscape as designed as it is already funded for this project 
and they have already put out bids.  
 
Emily Swan asked what the outcome was with the neighborhood meetings that Bowdoin had. 
Katie Longley replied that the meeting was sparsely attended and the main concern was that the 



Draft 1 

3 
 

park not have a place for kids to skateboard or that it be a place to just hang out; Katie stated that 
she has spoken to some of the neighbors about the number of benches and they plan to move 
slowly and phase them in.   
 
Emily Swan referred to Anna Breinich’s letter to the Board dated April 4, 2013 and noted the  
Basis for demolition criteria to be considered in the Demolition Standards: 

 
1. The significance of the structure proposed for demolition as evidenced by the 
status as listed or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places. 
 
Board members agreed that these two buildings were contributing structures. 
This recommendation carried unanimously 4-0 
 
2. The condition of the structure provided that the applicant has not contributed 
significantly to the deterioration of the structure. 
 
Board members agreed that the buildings are in poor condition. Emily Swan 
pointed out that in the application it noted that there was no real maintenance by 
the previous owner. Emily noted that Bowdoin attempted to revitalize the building 
by doing hazmat abatement, removing the collapsing chimneys and etc.  Betsy Marr 
replied that in reviewing the engineers report she was surprised they are still 
standing. This recommendation carried unanimously 4-0 
 
3. The availability of permitted alternative uses of the structure that would 
maintain its economic viability 
 
Emily Swan noted that the engineers recommendation is demolition and to renovate 
it would cost would be too excessive.  Anna Breinich noted that MHPC also 
concluded that the cost to renovate would be excessive.  This recommendation 
carried unanimously that the Board concurs with the finding of MHPC 4-0 
 
MOTION BY BETSY MARR TO RECOMMEND TO THE PLANNING BOARD 
THAT THEY APPROVE THE DEMOLITION OF 22 CLEAVELAND STREET. 
SECONDED BY BROOKS STODDARD, APPROVE UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

Jane Crichton stated that demolition comes with extreme regret and she feels that they need to be 
proactive in preventing deterioration of contributing structures.  Brooks Stoddard replied that it is 
going to create a big hole to the area and feels that changes could have been made earlier to 
prevent the deterioration; Brooks asked that Bowdoin do a good photographic record the 
structure.  

 
Historic Preservation Month Event Planning 
Emily Swan stated that they are set for the May 18th tour; Emily will get publication materials to 
Jennifer Blanchard of the Pejepscot Historical Society.  Emily stated that the photo contest will 
be at the Visitors Center and stated that she has been working with Jennifer about pulling 
together before and after photographs of Maine Street businesses.  Discussion on businesses 



Draft 1 

4 
 

placing photographs of original storefronts in their buildings; Brooks Stoddard to research 
location of old photographs.    
 
Staff Approvals Update 

- 8 Gilman Avenue: Removal of outer staircase and incorporating staircase inside the 
building; no exterior work other than to replace doors with windows. 
- 80 Maine Street:  Anna Breinich noted that the windows on the top floor will look the 
same across; two double hung and one solid.   
 

Minutes 
No minutes were reviewed at this meeting. 
 
Other Business 
No other business. 
 
Adjourned 
This meeting was adjourned at 7:44 P.M. 
 
Attest 
 
Tonya D. Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	VRB.6.6.13.Agenda.pdf
	VRB.6.6.13.Packet
	VRB Packet.pdf
	vrb 6.6_20130603162633.pdf
	vrb.6.6 pics_20130603162737

	Draft Findings Statement 15 Cumberland 6 3 13
	VRB 2 21 13 Draft2
	VRB 3 14 13 Draft2
	VRB 4 8 13 Draft


